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AUGUST 9, 2016 1 

(WHEREUPON, the proceedings began at 10:03 a.m.  The 2 

applicant was present, along with her counsel of 3 

record.) 4 

 MS. OLIVE:  Your Honor, this is Georgia Woodberry v. the 5 

State.  This is Case Number 2013–CP–21–2969.   6 

  Ms. Woodberry was indicted for murder.  Excuse me.  Ms. 7 

Woodberry in April of 2013 was indicted for murder, two 8 

counts of attempted murder, discharging a firearm into a 9 

vehicle, and stalking.  She was represented by Mr. Scott 10 

Floyd.   11 

  On July 30, 2013, Ms. Woodberry pleaded guilty as 12 

indicted before the Honorable Craig Brown.  He sentenced her 13 

to concurrent terms of 40 years for murder, 25 years for one 14 

count of attempted murder, 20 years for the second count of 15 

attempted murder, five years for discharging a firearm into a 16 

vehicle, and five years for stalking.   17 

  She filed a timely notice of appeal, but the South 18 

Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal pursuant to 19 

Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(4) of the South Carolina Rules of Appellate 20 

Court on September 17, 2013.  The remittitur was returned on 21 

October 8, 2013.   22 

 She filed this application for post-conviction relief on 23 

November 11, 2013, alleging several grounds of ineffective 24 

assistance of counsel.  She also alleged under -- under 25 
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ineffective assistance of counsel, she alleged she was 1 

intimidated, scared, and pressured into taking the plea.  She 2 

was not informed of certain options and certain protocol 3 

involved in a criminal case.   4 

  The second allegation is evidence not seen and heard.  5 

Certain documents to aid her defense were not presented.  She 6 

also alleged that the judge was prejudiced and biased.   7 

  Your Honor, we filed a return moving to dismiss all 8 

claims except for the ineffective assistance of counsel claim 9 

and, Your Honor, Mr. Shaffer also provided me with some 10 

additional allegations in advance of this hearing.  Mr. 11 

Shaffer -- Tristan Shaffer is representing Ms. Woodberry.  He 12 

is present in the courtroom and Ms. Woodberry is present in 13 

the courtroom.  I'll turn it over to Mr. Shaffer at this 14 

time.   15 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Shaffer?   16 

 MR. SHAFFER:  Thank you, Your Honor.   17 

 THE COURT:  Yes, sir.   18 

 MR. SHAFFER:  There are six additional grounds that I 19 

was going to orally amend the application to include.   20 

 One is that counsel was ineffective for failing to move 21 

to quash the murder indictment.   22 

 The second one is counsel was ineffective for failing to 23 

advise client that she could not be found guilty of murder 24 

with the death resulting from an automobile accident that she 25 
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-- essentially that she was not involved in.   1 

  The third one being ineffective assistance of counsel 2 

for failing to advise the applicant of the law involving the 3 

felony murder rule in South Carolina.   4 

  The fourth one being ineffective assistance of counsel 5 

for failing to advise the applicant she could not be found 6 

guilty when she was not the proximate cause of the decedent's 7 

death.   8 

  The fifth cause -- the fifth amendment would be 9 

ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to argue that 10 

her sentence for attempted murder of Jimmy Askins would be 11 

subject to 16–25–90, which is the parole eligibility for 12 

domestic violence.   13 

  And the sixth claim would be ineffective assistance of 14 

counsel for failing to argue that all of her other sentences 15 

would also -- should also be subject to 16–25–90.   16 

 THE COURT:  All right.  If you'll call your first 17 

witness.   18 

 MR. SHAFFER:  Thank you, Your Honor.  The applicant 19 

would call Scott Floyd.   20 

 THE CLERK:  Raise your right hand.  Do you swear or 21 

affirm that the testimony you give in this case will be the 22 

truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help 23 

you God?   24 

 THE WITNESS:  I do.   25 
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 THE CLERK:  Thank you.   1 

      SCOTT FLOYD, being first duly sworn, 2 

testified as follows:  3 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 4 

BY MR. SHAFFER:  5 

Q: Good morning, Mr. Floyd.   6 

A: Good morning.   7 

Q: You represented Georgia Woodberry on the charges, the 8 

murder charge and the attempted murder and the other charges 9 

she had related to her incarceration; is that correct?   10 

A: I did.   11 

Q: Okay.  She was appointed to you; is that correct?   12 

A: Yes.   13 

Q: Okay.  Tell us a little bit about the allegations just 14 

for the record so the judge knows?   15 

A: Well, she was indicted for one count of murder, two 16 

counts of attempted murder, and I think a count of stalking, 17 

if I recall.   18 

Q: Okay.  What is the factual basis of those or what did 19 

the State allege to be the factual basis?   20 

A: They alleged that she fired on the occupants of a moving 21 

vehicle and that that vehicle in turn collided with a third 22 

vehicle, and the death of the occupant of the third vehicle 23 

resulted from that collision.   24 

Q: Okay.   25 
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A: And the stalking I think was -- occurred before the 1 

actual event on the highway.   2 

Q: There was some indication that -- or at least the State 3 

presented some allegation that she had been following her 4 

boyfriend around; correct?  Is that fair to say?   5 

A: Correct.  And if I recall, there was a 9-1-1 call made 6 

by the female occupant of the vehicle that was being fired on 7 

that morning and, basically, she was recounting to the 8 

dispatcher that they were being followed.   9 

Q: Okay.  And the motor vehicle collision -- is it fair to 10 

say that it occurred while -- or the State alleged that it 11 

occurred while the two occupants of the vehicle, the two 12 

other victims, were trying to flee from the gunfire?   13 

A: That was the allegation.  Correct.   14 

Q: How far prior to her eventual plea did you first meet 15 

with her?   16 

A: I don't remember.  She was appointed.  I don't even 17 

remember when she was appointed to our office, but I'm sure 18 

it was shortly after the event.  You know, I don't have the 19 

file sitting here in front of me, but --  20 

Q: Okay.   21 

A: I mean I would have met with her the first time probably 22 

within a month of the file actually being assigned to the 23 

Public Defender's Office, whenever that was.   24 

Q: And what did you discuss as a possible strategy in this 25 
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case?   1 

A: Well, in the beginning, we discussed Battered Woman 2 

Syndrome.  I do remember discussing that.  You know, I did 3 

investigate the probable cause.  I mean not probable cause, 4 

the proximate cause aspect of the -- of the situation.  You 5 

know, her -- it seems like her allegation to me was -- and 6 

when I say her, I mean Ms. Woodberry.   7 

Q: Uh-huh. 8 

A: Was that the driver of the vehicle that was being fired 9 

on separated from her and actually got all the way out of her 10 

sight at some point.  Okay?  And that the accident occurred I 11 

guess far enough removed to take it from, you know, being the 12 

proximate cause of the death of the third party.  You know, 13 

of course, their allegation was that that was not the case 14 

and my understanding was that the testimony of those folks 15 

would be that she was still within their view when the 16 

accident happened.  So . . .   17 

Q: Okay.   18 

A: But I mean that was essentially, you know, what I 19 

thought the strategy would be.   20 

Q: All right.  Did she ever deny firing on them or the 21 

stalking charge?   22 

A: No.   23 

Q: Okay.  So if you would have gone to trial, you never -- 24 

you wouldn't have really contested those other offenses; 25 
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right?   1 

A: No.  I mean she -- I mean she admitted to firing on 2 

them, yes.   3 

Q: And now, with the -- you said that you had done some 4 

research regarding the proximate cause.  What was your 5 

understanding of it at that point, you know, the -- whether 6 

or not she would be the proximate cause?  What -- what did 7 

you convey to her as your understanding of -- of your 8 

research?   9 

A: Well, I searched for, you know, cases like this fact 10 

pattern and I couldn't find any.  I mean I looked, you know.  11 

You know, certainly not only in our state, but in other state 12 

databases on -- Lexis I think is what we use in our office. 13 

 You know, I just came up empty on that score as far as 14 

any cases that pretty much matched this fact pattern.  You 15 

know, we did -- I mean certainly, you know, her version of 16 

facts -- I mean if they, you know, separated themselves and 17 

got out of sight and I mean I thought you could make the 18 

argument certainly that -- that enough time or space had 19 

elapsed where you could make the argument that she was no 20 

longer the -- the cause of it.   21 

 So I mean, like I said, their version was going to be 22 

something entirely different, but I mean that would just be a 23 

question of fact for the jury to decide.  I mean I don't 24 

really know what else to say about that.  I mean, you know, 25 
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we did talk about the -- you know, I guess the felony murder 1 

rule.   2 

Q: Uh-huh. 3 

A: You know, which -- which my understanding in a nutshell 4 

was that if you commit a felony that involves some inherently 5 

dangerous activity and a homicide -- unintended homicide 6 

results as a -- you know, from that, that the malice can be I 7 

guess inferred from the commission of the underlying felony.  8 

And certainly, I thought, you know, attempted murder was -- 9 

would certainly fit into that category as a -- as a felony 10 

that was inherently dangerous.  I thought we might have 11 

problems with that rule.   12 

Q: Okay.  Now, you had -- there was some allegation in this 13 

case that Jimmy Askins had previously abused her; is that 14 

correct?   15 

A: Correct.   16 

Q: Do you recall what sort of evidence you had to support 17 

that?   18 

A: I discussed that with Ms. Woodberry.  It seems like he 19 

had one -- and I may be wrong about this, but I'm just going 20 

on my recall.  It seems like he had one magistrate’s level 21 

CDV on his record --   22 

Q: Uh-huh. 23 

A: -- prior to this incident.  And I did talk to her about 24 

if there was any medical treatment to her as a result of 25 
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that.  My recollection is she indicated that, you know, there 1 

were no emergency room visits and that sort of thing.   2 

 I do recall asking her, you know, if there were any 3 

witnesses that, you know, saw her being struck by him on 4 

different occasions and that sort of thing.  My recollection 5 

is there was nobody.  You know, I just didn't -- as I recall, 6 

there was really no documentation of there being a pattern of 7 

that or anything.   8 

Q: Okay.  Did you ever consider arguing the parole 9 

eligibility statute?   10 

A: You know, I really don't remember.  I just don't 11 

remember doing that, no.   12 

Q: Okay.   13 

A: It seems like when I was discussing that with her, it 14 

was in the context of the Batter -- Battered Woman's --  15 

Q: Syndrome?   16 

A: -- Syndrome.  I don't -- I don’t specifically recall 17 

discussing it in the context of that statute.   18 

Q: Okay.   19 

A: I mean . . . 20 

Q: Did you -- but you had -- you had actually requested an 21 

expert in Battered Woman Syndrome; right?  Or requested 22 

funding for one?   23 

A: You know, I can't remember if I did or not.   24 

Q: Okay.   25 
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A: I don't know.   1 

Q: Did you ever make any sort of argument prior to the 2 

guilty plea concerning quashing the murder indictment?   3 

A: No, I did not.   4 

Q: Do you recall if you ever showed up at a prelim for the 5 

murder indictment or anything?  Or do you think she was 6 

directly indicted?   7 

A: I don't remember.  I can't remember --  8 

Q: Okay.   9 

A: -- if we had a prelim or not.   10 

Q: Whenever the -- well, prior to you actually starting the 11 

trial -- and you started the trial in this case; correct?   12 

A: That's correct.   13 

Q: Okay.  Prior to that, had she had any plea offers in the 14 

case?   15 

A: No.  There were no plea offers.   16 

Q: Did -- whenever she did decide to plea, what was your 17 

advice to her about pleading guilty?   18 

A: Well, you know, obviously, it would be a straight-up 19 

plea since there was no offer, and I certainly explained the 20 

sentencing range on a murder, which is 30 to life.  My 21 

understanding is, you know, a 30-year sentence would be day 22 

for day 30 years and, of course, a life sentence would be 23 

until you’re dead and -- you know, and I explained the range, 24 

you know, that it didn't have to be 30 or life, but certainly 25 

87



SCOTT FLOYD - DIRECT BY MR. SHAFFER 

- 14 - 

 

it could be a number higher than 30 or -- or life.   1 

 I mean I went through the sentencing range.  Certainly, 2 

the fact that you, you know, waive your right to a jury trial 3 

and right to remain silent and right to cross-examine 4 

witnesses and right to present evidence of your own and, you 5 

know, all that thing that I normally do during a plea.  So I 6 

mean I would've discussed all of that.   7 

Q: Okay.  Did you think that it was a good strategy given 8 

the facts against her?   9 

A: Excuse me?   10 

Q: Did you think it was a good strategy given the facts 11 

against her?   12 

A: Did I think what was a good strategy?   13 

Q: Pleading guilty straight up.   14 

A: Well, I mean I didn't think it was a bad decision at the 15 

time on her part.  I mean, you know, the -- like I said, 16 

certainly they were going to present evidence that -- you 17 

know, that she was, like I said, right up on them when the 18 

accident with the third party happened.   19 

Q: Uh-huh. 20 

A: She was a very sympathetic figure.  I mean she was a 21 

nurse going to work in the morning.  I mean certainly I 22 

thought that the jury might feel for her, obviously.   23 

 I mean, you know, but hey, I never tell my clients that 24 

they don't have a chance because we all know if you have a 25 
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jury trial, you don't ever know what will happen.  And so I 1 

would certainly never tell a client you don't have a chance, 2 

but . . .  3 

Q: Do you think that -- or did you ever advise her that it 4 

would -- you thought it would be a good idea to actually -- 5 

or to essentially ask the Court for mercy or ask the Court 6 

for leniency in not going through a trial?  Did you give her 7 

any advice related to that?   8 

A: Well, what I normally tell a client is, if you plead, 9 

certainly you need to show the appropriate amount of remorse 10 

and there's certainly a possibility that if you enter a plea 11 

and ask for mercy, you may get it.  That's no guarantee when 12 

you plead straight up.   13 

Q: Uh-huh. 14 

A: I mean -- and that was the case here.  If you plead, you 15 

plead straight up.  And so I mean I never would have said 16 

just because you plead guilty you're going to get 30 years or 17 

the minimum or whatever.   18 

Q: Okay. 19 

A: I mean . . . 20 

 MR. SHAFFER:  No further questions.   21 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Cross-examination?   22 

 MS. OLIVE:  Thank you, Your Honor.  May it please the 23 

Court.   24 

 THE COURT:  Sure.   25 
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CROSS-EXAMINATION 1 

BY MS. OLIVE:   2 

Q: Good morning, Mr. Floyd.  Thank you for being with us 3 

today.   4 

A: Yes, ma'am.   5 

Q: Mr. Floyd, how long have you been practicing law?   6 

A: Since 1988.  I'm not sure how many years that is.  Close 7 

to 30 I guess.   8 

Q: And what portion of your practice has been criminal?   9 

A: Well, for the last I guess close to 10 years, pretty 10 

much all of it.   11 

Q: Prior to being appointed to represent Ms. Woodberry, had 12 

you represented clients on murder charges before?  v 13 

A: Yes.   14 

Q: Do you -- how many would you say?   15 

A: I don't know.  I mean I -- I really don't know.   16 

Q: It's a large number or a small number?   17 

A: On murder charges, probably -- I mean I'm just guessing.  18 

Ten?  Fifteen?  I mean I -– maybe more.   19 

Q: Do you recall how many times you met with Ms. Woodberry 20 

prior to the start of the trial?   21 

A: I don't remember exactly, but as a general rule when I 22 

have clients in the detention center, I generally try to see 23 

them at least once every 30 to 45 days or so.  So however 24 

long it was between the time I got the file and the time of 25 

90



SCOTT FLOYD - CROSS BY MS. OLIVE 

- 17 - 

 

her trial, you can say once every month or six weeks or so.   1 

Q: Mr. Floyd, did you file Rule 5 or Brady motions in this 2 

case?   3 

A: Yes.   4 

Q: Did you review the discovery with Ms. Woodberry?   5 

A: Oh, yes.   6 

Q: Did you discuss with her what the State would have to 7 

prove at trial?   8 

A: Yes.   9 

Q: Do you feel she understood those discussions? 10 

A: I feel like she did.   11 

Q: Did she discuss with you her version of the facts?   12 

A: Yes.   13 

Q: And again, you testified she never denied shooting at 14 

the car?   15 

A: No.   16 

Q: Did you discuss any possible defenses with Ms. 17 

Woodberry?   18 

A: Yes.   19 

Q: Do you feel she understood those discussions?   20 

A: I think so.   21 

Q: And I know we've already discussed this a bit, but can 22 

you briefly describe the evidence that the State had against 23 

Ms. Woodberry in this case?   24 

A: Well, primarily, it was the two occupants of the vehicle 25 
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that was fired on, and the evidence that they were going to 1 

give was that they got in a motor vehicle, got on the 2 

highway.  I think the female actually alleged that she had 3 

seen Ms. Woodberry before they actually got out onto the 4 

highway when they were leaving their residence that morning.  5 

And that during the drive, she pulled up and started firing a 6 

gun at the vehicle and then, of course, they sped off trying 7 

to flee and then the accident with the other party resulted.   8 

Q: Were there also allegations that Ms. Woodberry had been 9 

stalking these occupants of the vehicle prior to this 10 

accident?   11 

A: Yes.   12 

Q: Do you recall the length of time she was alleged to have 13 

been stalking them?   14 

A: Well, I don't remember exactly.  I do know there was -- 15 

there was an allegation of an incident of it that morning or 16 

before the shooting actually took place, immediately prior to 17 

that.   18 

Q: Is it your understanding that -- or do you know whether 19 

Ms. Woodberry and Mr. Atkins -- I believe his name was --  20 

A: Askins.   21 

Q: Askins.  I apologize.  Do you recall whether they were 22 

residing together at any point in time prior to this 23 

incident?   24 

A: My understanding at one point, yes.   25 
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Q: Do you know how long they had been living apart prior to 1 

this incident?   2 

A: I can't remember.   3 

Q: But he had a new girlfriend and that's why she --  4 

A: That was my understanding.   5 

Q: Do you -- this incident with Mr. Askins regarding the 6 

prior magistrate level domestic violence conviction that he 7 

had, do you recall how soon that occurred prior to this 8 

incident?   9 

A: I want to say that it -- I think it was in 2011, but I'm 10 

not sure about that.   11 

Q: So would you say it was not close in time to this 12 

incident?   13 

 MR. SHAFFER:  Objection.   14 

A: Well, I mean it was --  15 

 THE COURT:  What grounds?   16 

 MR. SHAFFER:  I’ll withdraw the objection.   17 

BY MS. OLIVE: 18 

A: I mean it was I guess over a year.  I mean --  19 

Q: This was -- she pleaded guilty in July of 2013; correct?   20 

A: Correct.   21 

Q: Are you aware of any evidence that Ms. Woodberry had 22 

been involved in any sort of domestic altercation with Mr. 23 

Askins on the day of this event?   24 

A: No.   25 
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Q: Okay.  Any evidence that she felt threatened by him on 1 

the day of this event?   2 

A: No.   3 

Q: Okay.  Mr. Floyd, what -- what sort of investigation did 4 

you do in Ms. -- Ms. Woodberry's case?   5 

A: Well, I spoke obviously to her and we discussed the 6 

facts.  We went through all the -- you know, the Rule 5 7 

materials that the solicitor sent me.  I'm -- I can't 8 

remember who the investigator -- lead investigator was in 9 

this case, but I'm sure I had conversations with him.  For 10 

some reason, I want to say it was -- it was Thomas McFadden, 11 

but I -- but I could be wrong about that.  I'm not positive, 12 

but normally in a case like this I would talk, you know, to 13 

the investigator.  I mean that's, you know, essentially what 14 

I did.   15 

Q: And you also testified earlier that you did some legal 16 

research --   17 

A: Right.   18 

Q: -- in this case as well?  Did Ms. Woodberry ever tell 19 

you she didn't understand something?  Excuse me.  I withdraw 20 

that question.  You testified earlier that you discussed with 21 

Ms. Woodberry her constitutional rights?   22 

A: Yes.   23 

Q: And those that she would be waiving by pleading guilty?   24 

A: Sure.   25 
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Q: And again, this -- y’all had actually started the trial 1 

in this case; is that correct?   2 

A: Yes, we did.   3 

Q: And how did the -- how did Ms. Woodberry decide to plead 4 

guilty?   5 

A: I can't remember what -- what stage we were in, to tell 6 

you -- I just don't recall exactly.  I do remember the 9-1-1 7 

tape being played in the courtroom.  I can't remember if that 8 

was as part of a pretrial motion or if it was actually played 9 

for the jury.  I can't recall, but I do remember it being 10 

played.  I think it was shortly after that that she told me 11 

she wanted to enter the plea.   12 

Q: Did you make a suggestion to her prior to that that she 13 

should enter a guilty plea?   14 

A: I mean I just told her what her options were.  I didn't 15 

-- I mean I didn't -- you know -- 16 

Q: Prior to trial --  17 

A: Right.   18 

Q: -- you made those discussions?   19 

A: Sure.   20 

Q: But immediately prior to her decision to plead guilty, 21 

had you suggested to her that she needed to plead guilty?   22 

A: No.  Not immediately prior.  I mean she -- she told me 23 

she wanted to.   24 

Q: So it was her decision to plead guilty?   25 
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A: Correct.   1 

Q: Mr. Shaffer asked you earlier if you thought that was a 2 

good strategy.  Would you consider that to be a strategy?   3 

A: Well, I guess in a sense it could be a strategy if you 4 

want leniency.  I mean if you enter a plea and beg for mercy, 5 

I guess that's a strategy to reduce your sentence I suppose.   6 

Q: But you -- but Ms. Woodberry had a right to a jury 7 

trial, which she had invoked?   8 

A: Certainly.   9 

Q: And she chose to plead guilty instead?   10 

A: That's correct.   11 

Q: As is also her right to do?   12 

A: Absolutely.   13 

Q: And you testified earlier that you never made any 14 

promise to her regarding --  15 

A: No, ma'am.   16 

Q: -- leniency?   17 

A: That's correct.   18 

Q: And I apologize.  I'm jumping around a bit here.  You 19 

testified earlier as well that there were no plea offers made 20 

in this case?   21 

A: That's correct.   22 

Q: Did you feel that the -- you testified that you and Ms. 23 

Woodberry discussed the possible defense of Battered Woman's 24 

Syndrome.  Did you feel that that would be a successful 25 
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defense at trial?   1 

A: No.  I mean I just don't recall there being, you know, 2 

any documentation of it that I could uncover, other than the 3 

one magistrate’s level CDV that I can recall.   4 

Q: And you testified there was no -- there were no 5 

witnesses?   6 

A: No. 7 

Q: That she did not seek medical treatment for that and 8 

there were no witnesses that could testify?   9 

A: That was my understanding.   10 

Q: And you discussed -- you stated that you also discussed 11 

the felony murder rule with Ms. Woodberry?   12 

A: Correct.   13 

Q: Were you prepared to address that at trial?   14 

A: Yes.   15 

Q: And you discussed with her the argument that she may not 16 

have been the proximate cause of the vehicular death?   17 

A: Correct.   18 

Q: And you stated that that would have been for the jury to 19 

decide?   20 

A: Yes.   21 

Q: So that's not really a defense?  I mean it -- withdrawn.  22 

You were prepared to -- to present that at the trial?   23 

A: Correct.   24 

Q: Is it -- do you -- is it your understanding that the 25 
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parole eligibility statute that Mr. Shaffer referenced 1 

earlier -- which is South Carolina Code 16–25–90.  Is it your 2 

understanding that that would have been applicable in Ms. 3 

Woodberry's case?   4 

A: Well, with one instance of a magistrate's level CDV, I 5 

don't know, but certainly I mean I guess you could make that 6 

argument, at least as to the household member.  But, of 7 

course, you know, the other two people involved weren't 8 

household members.  So the -- the victim in the count of 9 

murder obviously was never her household member, nor was the 10 

female who was in the vehicle that was being fired on.  So 11 

reading it that way, I wouldn't think that they were -- or 12 

the statute was applicable to them.   13 

Q: Is it true that Mr. Askins was not her household member 14 

at the time either?   15 

 MR. SHAFFER:  Objection, Your Honor.  I think that calls 16 

for a legal conclusion.   17 

 THE COURT:  Your response to that?   18 

 MS. OLIVE:  Your Honor, I can rephrase.   19 

 THE COURT:  Rephrase it.   20 

BY MS. OLIVE:  21 

Q: Did you testify earlier that Ms. -- Ms. Woodberry and 22 

Mr. Askins were no longer living together as of the date of 23 

this event?   24 

A: That -- that's my understanding that they weren’t living 25 
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together.  Now, I think household member is defined by the 1 

statute.   2 

Q: So based on your understanding of the statute, would you 3 

consider -- based on your understanding of the statute and 4 

the facts of this case, would that statute have been 5 

applicable in Ms. Woodberry's case with respect to Mr. 6 

Askins?   7 

A: As far -- I mean I didn't think so, but certainly, I 8 

mean you can argue about that.   9 

Q: Did you feel that you had grounds to move to quash the 10 

murder indictment?   11 

A: Move to quash the murder indictment?  No.   12 

Q: And why is that?   13 

A: Well, my understanding of the indictment is a -- you 14 

know, it's a notice document.  It sets forth the charge.  I 15 

mean it set forth the charge for murder.  The theory of the 16 

murder obviously was the -- was the felony murder rule.  I 17 

mean -- I mean it set forth the elements of a murder.  So no, 18 

I didn't think that --  19 

Q: Ms. Woodberry was firing on the vehicle that Mr. Askins 20 

and his girlfriend were driving; correct?   21 

A: Correct.   22 

Q: And she never denied that she was intentionally firing 23 

on their vehicle?   24 

A: That's correct.   25 
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Q: Okay.  And in an attempt to flee from Ms. Woodberry, 1 

they collided with another vehicle; correct?   2 

A: That's correct.  Or that was the allegation.   3 

Q: And you testified they were also sympathetic -- that the 4 

victims in this case would have been sympathetic?   5 

A: That was my opinion, particularly concerning the 6 

deceased, yes.   7 

Q: Was it Ms. Woodberry's decision to plead guilty?   8 

A: Yes.   9 

Q: Do you feel that she understood that she was waiving her 10 

right to a jury trial, her right to remain silent, and her 11 

right to confront her accusers?   12 

A: Yes.   13 

Q: And you were prepared to try this case; correct?   14 

A: Yes.   15 

 MS. OLIVE:  I beg the Court's indulgence, Your Honor.    16 

BY MS. OLIVE: 17 

Q: One more question, Mr. -- Mr. Floyd.  Was Ms. Woodberry 18 

-- did she undergo a competency evaluation in this case?   19 

A: I don't think so.  I don't recall, but you know what?  20 

She may have.  I can't remember.  I don't have the file in 21 

front of me.   22 

 MS. OLIVE:  I beg the Court's indulgence, Your Honor.   23 

 THE COURT:  Sure.   24 

BY MS. OLIVE: 25 
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Q: Mr. Floyd, if I showed you the transcript, would that 1 

refresh your memory?   2 

A: Yes, it should.   3 

 MS. OLIVE:  Your Honor, permission to approach the 4 

witness?   5 

 THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am.   6 

 THE WITNESS:  I don't have my glasses; so I may not be 7 

able to read it.   8 

 THE COURT:  There you go.  9 

 THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 10 

 THE COURT:  There's an extra pair I leave up here in 11 

case I forget mine.   12 

 THE WITNESS:  I appreciate it.  Thank you.   13 

BY MS. OLIVE: 14 

Q: This is page 4 of the plea transcript, starting at line 15 

12.   16 

A: Okay.  Okay.  So we did have an evaluation.   17 

Q: Thank you.  Is it your understanding that she was found 18 

competent to stand trial?   19 

A: Yes.   20 

 MS. OLIVE:  Thank you, Mr. Floyd.  That's all the 21 

questions I have.   22 

 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.   23 

 THE COURT:  Redirect?   24 

 MR. SHAFFER:  Yes.  Just a couple questions.   25 
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REDIRECT EXAMINATION 1 

BY MR. SHAFFER:  2 

Q: Mr. Floyd, you don't have a copy of the transcript with 3 

you, do you?   4 

A: No, I don't.   5 

Q: Okay.  Do you recall some other allegations, like a 6 

history of several incident reports about CDVs involving it?   7 

A: No.   8 

Q: If I showed you page 42, lines 1 through 8, of the 9 

transcript, would that refresh your recollection?   10 

A: Okay.   11 

Q: It's fair to say that you had some evidence?  I'm 12 

assuming you had some evidence of that; correct?   13 

A: I would think so, yes.   14 

Q: Okay.  I don't think you would just say it --  15 

A: No.   16 

Q: -- just to say it?   17 

A: Absolutely.   18 

Q: Now, you said that you -- you had explained to Ms. 19 

Woodberry what the State would have to prove in the case.  20 

What -- what did you explain to her?   21 

A: Well, I mean certainly I would have gone over the 22 

elements of what a murder is, which is an unlawful killing 23 

with malice aforethought.  Of course, the felony murder rule, 24 

which I’ve -- you and I discussed earlier --  25 
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Q: Uh-huh. 1 

A: The malice would have to be supplied by the commission 2 

of the attempted murders; right?  And, of course, an 3 

attempted murder is essentially the same as a murder without 4 

the actual death of the person.   5 

Q: Uh-huh. 6 

A: So we would have gone over the -- the elements that they 7 

would have to prove.   8 

Q: And you said that you had to -- that you explained the 9 

attempted murder rule and you were prepared to address that 10 

at trial.  How were you -- what were you planning on doing to 11 

address that at trial?   12 

A: Are you talking about the felony murder rule?   13 

Q: That's correct.   14 

A: Well, I mean certainly my argument was going to be, had 15 

we proceeded all the way to the trial, was essentially the 16 

proximate cause issue removed it from that rule.   17 

Q: Okay.   18 

A: But I mean --  19 

Q: Okay.   20 

A: I mean that was going to be essentially my argument.   21 

Q: Were you planning on making that argument in a directed 22 

verdict?   23 

A: Yes.  I mean that was the plan.   24 

 MR. SHAFFER:  That's all the questions I have.   25 
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 THE WITNESS:  All right.   1 

 MR. SHAFFER:  Thank you.   2 

 THE WITNESS:  You're welcome.   3 

 THE COURT:  Any recross?   4 

 MS. OLIVE:  No further questions, Your Honor.   5 

 THE COURT:  Thank you.  You may step down.   6 

 THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor.   7 

 THE COURT:  If you'll call your next witness.   8 

 MR. SHAFFER:  The applicant would call Georgia 9 

Woodberry.   10 

 THE CLERK:  Raise your right hand as much as you can.  11 

Do you swear to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing 12 

but the truth, so help you God?   13 

 THE APPLICANT:  Yes, ma'am.   14 

 THE CLERK:  Thank you.   15 

       GEORGIA WOODBERRY, being first 16 

duly sworn, testified as follows:  17 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 18 

BY MR. SHAFFER:  19 

Q: Ms. Woodberry, you ended up pleading guilty; correct?   20 

A: Yes.   21 

Q: Okay.  Outside of what Mr. Floyd just said about the 22 

proximate cause, if Mr. Floyd had said that the felony murder 23 

rule does not apply to your case, would you have pled guilty?   24 

A: No, sir.   25 
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Q: Would you have gone to trial at that point?   1 

A: Yes, sir.   2 

Q: Okay.  Now, I'm going to ask you a little bit -- if you 3 

can tell the Court about past incidents where Mr. Askins 4 

abused you?   5 

A: Okay.  Well, I met him in the year 2009 and from the 6 

beginning until -- up until the incident, we've been in 7 

several CDV incidents.  I've called it in.  I've never went 8 

to court on them because he would always convince me to turn 9 

around, but there’s several documented incidents at the 10 

Florence Sheriff's Department of us being in CDV incidents up 11 

until the accident, which was March 30.  That was the last 12 

CDV call that I made at the Sheriff's Department right before 13 

the accident.  So there were several incidents.   14 

Q: You made a call right before the accident?   15 

A: Well, March 30.  That was, like, a week before we got 16 

into the accident.   17 

Q: Okay.   18 

A: Yes.   19 

Q: And as you stated, there’s -- there was no -- you never 20 

went to court on any of them; right?   21 

A: No, sir.   22 

Q: But there were police reports; right?   23 

A: Yes, sir.   24 

Q: And your attorney talked to you about the police 25 
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reports; correct?   1 

A: Yes, sir.   2 

Q: Did he ever talk to you about parole eligibility related 3 

to that?   4 

A: Not that I recall.   5 

 MR. SHAFFER:  That's all the questions I have, Your 6 

Honor.   7 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Any cross?   8 

 MS. OLIVE:  Yes.  Thank you, Your Honor.   9 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 10 

BY MS. OLIVE:  11 

Q: Good morning, Ms. Woodberry.   12 

A: Good morning.   13 

Q: I believe you just testified that you made a call right 14 

before the accident; is that right?   15 

A: Not right before.  It was, like, a week prior.   16 

Q: A week before?   17 

A: Yes.   18 

Q: And you testified that, although there may have been 19 

past incidents of domestic violence, you never went to court 20 

on any of those?   21 

A: No, ma'am.   22 

Q: Mr. Floyd did go over all of the discovery with you; 23 

correct?   24 

A: Yes, ma'am.   25 
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Q: And you told him your version of what happened?   1 

A: Yes.   2 

Q: And he discussed with you the elements of murder and 3 

attempted murder?   4 

A: Yes.   5 

Q: And he discussed with you any possible defenses you 6 

might have?   7 

A: Yes.   8 

Q: Including the Battered Wife Syndrome?   9 

A: We didn’t really go into much detail about it.   10 

Q: But he discussed it with you?   11 

A: Yes, ma'am.   12 

Q: And there was no -- there was never a plea offer in this 13 

case?   14 

A: No.   15 

Q: And you decided to plea?  You decided to change your 16 

plea from not guilty to guilty during trial; correct?   17 

A: Yes.   18 

Q: And Mr. Floyd went over the constitutional rights that 19 

you would be waiving by pleading guilty?   20 

A: Yes.   21 

Q: And you agreed with the facts that were presented by the 22 

solicitor at your guilty plea?   23 

A: I didn't agree, but yeah.   24 

Q: You don't recall agreeing to the facts?   25 
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A: I don't recall it.  Certain facts that I -- that was 1 

presented I know were not true.   2 

Q: But you did agree with the underlying facts as they were 3 

presented; right?   4 

A: Yes, ma'am.   5 

Q: And you told the judge that you were satisfied with your 6 

attorney?   7 

A: No.  I asked for another attorney.   8 

Q: You asked for another attorney at your guilty plea?   9 

A: No.  Before.  Prior to my guilty plea, but it was 10 

denied.   11 

Q: How far prior to your guilty plea?   12 

A: I don't recall.   13 

Q: Days?  Months?   14 

A: Maybe a couple of months.  I'm not sure.   15 

Q: So you actually went in front of a judge --   16 

A: Yes, ma'am.   17 

Q: -- and asked to have counsel relieved?   18 

A: Yes, ma'am.   19 

Q: And he denied that?   20 

A: Yes, ma'am.   21 

Q: But then on the day of your guilty plea, you told the 22 

judge that you were satisfied with counsel?   23 

A: Yes.   24 

Q: Okay.  You were satisfied with how he advised you and 25 
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represented you in your case?   1 

A: Yes.   2 

Q: And you said that you had talked to him for as long as  3 

-- as often and as long as you felt necessary?   4 

A: Yes.   5 

Q: And you said that you did not need any more time to talk 6 

to him?   7 

A: Yes.   8 

Q: And you said that you understood your discussions with 9 

him?   10 

A: Yes.   11 

Q: And you said that he had done everything you believed he 12 

could have done or should have done for you?   13 

A: Yes.   14 

Q: Was that a yes?   15 

A: Yes.   16 

Q: And you said you were completely satisfied with his 17 

services?   18 

A: Yes.   19 

Q: And you said that you did not have any complaints 20 

whatsoever?   21 

A: Yes.   22 

Q: Okay.  And ultimately, it was your decision to plead 23 

guilty; correct?   24 

A: Yes.   25 
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 MS. OLIVE:  I beg the Court's indulgence a moment, Your 1 

Honor.   2 

BY MS. OLIVE:  3 

Q: Ms. Woodberry, you understood when you pleaded guilty 4 

that you were pleading -- that -- the judge -- excuse me.  5 

The judge explained to you that he could sentence you up to 6 

life plus 70 years? 7 

A: Yes.   8 

Q: Okay.  And you understood that you were entering that 9 

guilty plea without negotiation or recommendation?   10 

A: Yes.   11 

Q: At any time, did you tell the judge you wished to 12 

withdraw your guilty plea?   13 

A: No.   14 

 MS. OLIVE:  Thank you.  That's all the questions I have.   15 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Any redirect?   16 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 17 

BY MR. SHAFFER:  18 

Q: Ms. Woodberry, your attorney told you about the felony 19 

murder rule; correct?   20 

A: Yes.   21 

Q: Okay.  And based -- and the advice he gave you -- and 22 

you heard him testify just a little while ago -- was 23 

essentially the same advice he testified to on the stand; 24 

right?   25 
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A: Yes.   1 

Q: And did that advice play a role in you pleading guilty 2 

to the murder charge?   3 

A: Yes.   4 

 MR. SHAFFER:  No further questions.   5 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Any recross?   6 

 MS. OLIVE:  No, Your Honor.  Thank you.   7 

 THE COURT:  All right.  You may step down.  Thank you.  8 

All right.  Any other witnesses?   9 

 MR. SHAFFER:  None, Your Honor.  I would like brief 10 

argument, if possible, unless the State has any witnesses.   11 

 MS. OLIVE:  I have no witnesses, Your Honor.   12 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Go ahead, Mr. Shaffer.   13 

 MR. SHAFFER:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Related to this, I 14 

think this is a little bit of an unusual case for a guilty 15 

plea because it mainly attacks whether or not she 16 

intelligently pled guilty.   17 

  My belief and based off the case law is that the felony 18 

murder rule does not apply to the facts of this case.  She 19 

pled guilty based off the felony murder rule and I don't 20 

think it applies to it and there's a couple different reasons 21 

for that.   22 

 The felony murder rule is very rarely referenced in 23 

South Carolina cases.  There's a couple cases from the 70s 24 

that reference it and -- but outside of that, it doesn't get 25 
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a whole lot of treatment in South Carolina opinions.   1 

 There are actually two different felony murder rules in 2 

the country.  There's an agency felony murder theory and then 3 

there's a proximate cause felony murder theory.   4 

  The agency is actually the majority rule in the country 5 

and the case that it's based off of is a case called Redline 6 

or Commonwealth v. Redline, which is a Pennsylvania case, and 7 

it's probably not the case it's based off of, but it's the 8 

case everyone cites to regarding it.  And essentially, this 9 

case -- most of the courts cite to it and it sort of lays out 10 

a couple of different things and one thing that -- one of the 11 

requirements of it -- and I apologize that's not highlighted, 12 

Your Honor.  I did not highlight these.   13 

  One of the requirements of -- of the felony murder rule 14 

is that -- under the Redline, under this agency theory, is 15 

that it has -- the death has to occur by an action of either 16 

the principal or a co-defendant, co-felon.  Okay?  So it's 17 

either you or an accomplice do something that causes the 18 

murder.  Okay?  And that's -- it can't -- the murder can't -- 19 

or the death cannot be caused by some third party.   20 

  And Redline basically is a case involving a robbery.  21 

Cops show up.  Cops start shooting.  One of the other guys 22 

get killed by the cop’s bullet and they say, well, one felon 23 

is not responsible for the death of his co-felon in part -- 24 

and there’s several different reasons that Redline outlines, 25 
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but one -- one primary reason is that the death was not 1 

caused by the felony or was not caused by -- I guess was not 2 

caused by the felony.  The death had this intervening act 3 

that -- that eventually caused the death.   4 

  Now, that's the majority rule as far as I can tell.  5 

Okay?  And the reason I say as far as I can tell is because I 6 

did find an Illinois case that said it's the majority rule.  7 

It's State -- it’s People v. Lowery, which I’ll hand up as 8 

well.  And this case is actually finding in Illinois it's a 9 

minority rule, which is proximate cause, and it outlines the 10 

minority rule.  And it also states that, you know, the 11 

majority of states follow this agency theory.  Illinois 12 

adopts this proximate cause theory.   13 

 Now, under the proximate cause theory, I guess the 14 

felony murder rule is broader because all it has -- all that 15 

has to happen is the felony has to be the proximate cause of 16 

it.  And it cites back to -- I believe it cites back to -- or 17 

essentially, a lot of these cases cite back to Palsgraf, 18 

which is a famous U.S. Supreme Court case that I learned 19 

about in law school and haven’t read since, but essentially, 20 

if it's a proximate cause under the minority role, it would 21 

be  -- she would actually -- or the person would actually be 22 

guilty of it if the felony was the proximate cause.   23 

  Some of the other states that adopt the majority rule 24 

include North Carolina and Virginia, which are, you know, two 25 
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cases -- two local, reasonably similar states that also adopt 1 

it.  I think our case law is more similar to them than some 2 

of the other states.  So I do have two cases showing that.  3 

There’s State v. Bonner out of North Carolina and 4 

Commonwealth v. King out of Virginia.   5 

  State v. Bonner is a similar situation where a robbery 6 

happened.  An officer shot -- shot the person who ended up 7 

dying and they said that, you know, that would not fall under 8 

the felony murder rule.  Now, King v. Commonwealth is a very 9 

different case that involves drug trafficking in an airplane, 10 

but it says that Virginia adopts the minority rule and that's 11 

the reason that I presented it.   12 

  I think that -- and I'm not necessarily conceding that 13 

the minority rule would -- would find that she was 14 

responsible for the death.  I think it certainly gets the 15 

State closer to that, but I think that the felony murder rule 16 

as stated by counsel as to what he told her was essentially 17 

the minority rule, which is this proximate cause theory.   18 

 And obviously he planned on challenging the proximate 19 

cause theory, which may create a factual issue.  I think that 20 

he probably could've addressed it pretrial as a matter of 21 

law.  I also think he might have been -– he might have been 22 

able to address the other one as well as a matter of law.   23 

  But I think clearly if there was this argument about how 24 

the felony murder rule wouldn’t have applied, I think that 25 
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you can credibly say -- or you can say that she credibly 1 

testified that she wouldn't have pled guilty had she known 2 

that there was a -- that the felony murder rule didn't apply.  3 

I think that pretty much anyone would agree with that, given 4 

her situation.  I think that that's a very plausible 5 

statement and a very credible statement that she made.  That, 6 

you know, but for being told about the felony murder rule, 7 

she wouldn't have pled guilty.   8 

  I don't think that the facts are necessarily heavily 9 

disputed in this case.  I think that, essentially, it's a 10 

legal issue of whether or not the proper law was actually 11 

given to her or the proper advice concerning the felony 12 

murder rule was actually given to her.   13 

  And briefly, even though this did not come up, there was 14 

some talk I think in the transcript about transferred intent.  15 

I don't really see how transferred intent would have anything 16 

to do with the facts in this case.  You know, transferred 17 

intent -- some people say -- you know, obviously, the Court 18 

has heard that, you know, the intent follows the bullet.  19 

Well, the bullet is not what killed her in this case.   20 

 I don't think it necessarily applies in this case, but 21 

there was some comment about it in a transcript.  So I just 22 

wanted to at least bring that up in front of the Court.   23 

 THE COURT:  Did you find any South Carolina law on 24 

point?   25 
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 MR. SHAFFER:  No, Your Honor.  Well, I apologize, Your 1 

Honor.  There is.  That brings me to another part of the 2 

argument that I forgot.   3 

  South Carolina law -- there are several cases that 4 

address the felony murder rule in South Carolina.  It does 5 

not delineate whether we adopt a majority or minority view, 6 

but the analysis is closer to the majority view because, 7 

essentially, they are accomplice liability cases, Your Honor. 8 

 There is -- I brought two of them.  There's about four 9 

cases from the 70s that all deal with the same thing and, 10 

essentially, their -- their finding is more or less 11 

accomplice liability, saying that, you know, two people do 12 

something, you're responsible for your co-defendant whenever 13 

he goes and shoots somebody and they -- they talk about the 14 

felony murder rule and use that as justification for it.   15 

 That's very similar to the majority rule and it does not 16 

seem to even touch on the proximate cause issue.  That's the 17 

reason I say that more than likely or my belief is that South 18 

Carolina follows the majority rule on this, and I'm handing 19 

up Gore v. Leeke and State v. Yates, which are two cases.   20 

 I think both of them have been -- or at least one of 21 

them have been overruled on other grounds, but they do 22 

discuss the felony murder rule.  But when they discuss it, 23 

they discuss accomplice liability in acts that the accomplice 24 

did in saying, well, you know, two guys go to rob a store, 25 
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one guy shoots someone on the way out.  You know, even though 1 

the guy who didn't shoot someone is still responsible, which, 2 

you know, is very similar to our hand of one/hand of all and 3 

accomplice liability theory that we adopt in this state as 4 

well.   5 

  But I think that based off of that, you can say that 6 

South Carolina would have followed the -- the majority rule 7 

on this, which would be, you know, essentially agency felony 8 

murder rule.  Thank you.   9 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Would the State like to respond?   10 

 MS. OLIVE:  Yes, Your Honor.  Your Honor, first, in 11 

order to show that she did not -- that her guilty plea was 12 

not knowingly and intelligently entered, she would -- Ms. 13 

Woodberry would have to show -- basically, she would have to 14 

show ineffective assistance of counsel.  She would have to 15 

prove deficiency and prejudice.   16 

  Your Honor, it's the State's position that Ms. Woodberry 17 

has shown no deficiency or prejudice in this case, although 18 

she did testify that she did not feel that Mr. Floyd's advice 19 

regarding the felony murder rule was correct and that, as a 20 

result of that advice, she pleaded guilty.   21 

  Your Honor, the State would also -- the State argues 22 

that there was overwhelming evidence in this case.  Ms. 23 

Woodberry never denied that she fired on the car.  Both of 24 

the occupants of the vehicle that was fired on were planning 25 
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to testify at the trial.  They were going to testify that, 1 

basically, she was never out of their sight.  There was no 2 

point in time that they got away from her, in the sense that 3 

they independently caused this accident.  Your Honor, they 4 

were also going to testify that she had been stalking them 5 

for a period of time prior to this incident taking place.   6 

  Your Honor, Ms. Woodberry got in her car, had a loaded 7 

gun, started chasing the occupants of this vehicle at a high 8 

rate of speed through an area where there were stoplights.  9 

They were fleeing from her, from these shots that were being 10 

fired on them.  Again, she never -- she -- she -- her 11 

testimony is consistent today with the fact that she has 12 

never stated that she was not intentionally firing on their 13 

vehicle.   14 

  The argument that the death of the victim was not 15 

proximately caused by her actions I don't think holds any 16 

water.  As Mr. Floyd testified, he discussed with her the 17 

proximate cause issue.  He discussed with her the felony in 18 

the context of -- we’re talking about the felony murder rule. 19 

 The felony murder rule or -- well, the concept of felony 20 

murder is included in the general sessions instructions in 21 

the state of South Carolina as an instruction that the Court 22 

can give.  It is an inference of malice that arises and 23 

there's no -- and the -- I believe that Mr. Floyd testified  24 

-- his testimony is consistent with an understanding of that 25 
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concept.  That he had considered that prior to trial and had 1 

discussed that with her.  That the malice that was present or 2 

the -– her actions in firing on the occupants of the vehicle 3 

were -- I think -- and, Your Honor, with the fact that they 4 

did not proceed to trial, we don't know what instructions 5 

would have been given with regard to malice aforethought with 6 

respect to the murder.  However, again, Mr. Floyd did testify 7 

that he was obviously anticipating that there was going to be 8 

a felony murder intent instruction given.   9 

 I disagree with -- with Mr. Shaffer in that I do believe 10 

that transferred intent would apply.  Mr. Floyd stated that 11 

he was going to make both of these arguments at a directed 12 

verdict motion.  The fact is Ms. Woodberry pleaded guilty.  13 

We don't know the outcome of that directed verdict motion. 14 

 And he discussed the elements of these crimes with Ms. 15 

Woodberry.  He discussed the constitutional rights that she 16 

was waiving by pleading guilty.  It was her decision to plead 17 

guilty.  He testified he's not even sure why she decided to 18 

plead guilty.  She just told him during trial that she wanted 19 

to enter a plea.   20 

  So, Your Honor, it's the State's position that it’s 21 

clear from Mr. Floyd's testimony he's practiced law.  He said 22 

at least for the last 10 years has been all criminal.  He's 23 

handled -- he had handled approximately 10 murder cases prior 24 

to representing Ms. Woodberry.  He has extensive experience.  25 
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Your Honor, he testified that he researched these concepts 1 

prior to trial.   2 

  It's the State's position that he is thoroughly 3 

competent in his representation of Ms. Woodberry in this case 4 

and it’s also the State’s position that Ms. Woodberry has 5 

failed to show prejudice in that she's not shown that she 6 

would not have pleaded guilty but for the alleged deficiency 7 

of counsel, given the fact that the case against her was 8 

substantial and if she had gone to trial likely would have 9 

been convicted.  And that would be the State’s position. 10 

 THE COURT:  All right.   11 

 MR. SHAFFER:  Your Honor, if I may address one or two 12 

things?   13 

  First, I think that the -- the -- I think Ms. Olive has 14 

stated that Mr. Floyd claimed that he would raise both of the 15 

issues at directed verdict.  My recollection of the testimony 16 

was that he planned on raising proximate cause issue at 17 

directed verdict and make that his legal argument.  I don't 18 

think he ever -- essentially, what he was saying is I’m going 19 

to say she wasn't the proximate cause.  Therefore, felony 20 

murder rule wouldn't apply.  You know, once again, that's 21 

based off of a minority view of it.   22 

 THE COURT:  Yeah, but you're guessing that we’re taking 23 

the majority approach.  Simply a guess.   24 

 MR. SHAFFER:  Yes, Your Honor.   25 
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 THE COURT:  There's no law on point to that effect today 1 

in this state.   2 

 MR. SHAFFER:  Well, I'm not --  3 

 THE COURT:  So that's a risk that they take at trial.  4 

She decided to forego that risk and plead guilty.   5 

 MR. SHAFFER:  Well -- and, Your Honor, I think that the 6 

problem is is that there wasn't even -- and I'm not saying 7 

that -- that we are taking that because actually I think that 8 

the majority rule is the -- essentially the common law that 9 

was adopted by South Carolina and I think that that's the 10 

state of the law in South Carolina based off the cases cited 11 

in the felony murder rule and the fact that the common law 12 

came from -- essentially relates to that.   13 

  I'm also saying that, you know, she never was advised of 14 

the risk.  You know, if Mr. Floyd is saying, well, this is my 15 

idea of what the felony murder rule was and that's what I 16 

told her, he didn't tell her anything about the majority 17 

viewpoint of the felony murder rule.   18 

 He didn't say anything about the agency viewpoint.  He 19 

only talked about the proximate cause viewpoint of the felony 20 

murder rule, which is essentially what he had testified to 21 

that he advised her on the proximate cause theory of the 22 

felony murder rule because that's essentially what his 23 

description of what he thought the felony murder rule was.   24 

  If you're advising someone on the wrong law, she's not 25 
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going to know the risk.  You know, she can't intelligently 1 

make a decision on saying, okay, well, if we went to trial, 2 

he would -- he would raise this.  In the majority of 3 

jurisdictions in the country, this wouldn’t be a felony 4 

murder rule.   5 

 You know, she can't make that -- that guess.  She's just 6 

saying, well, he said that the felony murder rule is this and 7 

I don't think that there's really any factual dispute about, 8 

you know, what he said to her and I think that at least 9 

there's no factual dispute that he said he was planning on 10 

raising this and saying she wasn’t the proximate cause, but 11 

he didn't mention anything about this other viewpoint and, 12 

you know, I think that if he had -- he had done that, 13 

certainly she would have been in a better position to 14 

actually make that intelligent choice of whether or not she 15 

wanted to plead guilty.   16 

  One thing I wanted to address is that, you know, the 17 

amendments that we have made -- you know, four of them only 18 

address issues related to whether or not she's -- the acts 19 

that the State allege are murder.  Okay?  Only four of them  20 

-- the four -- the first four address that and they're only 21 

related to the murder indictment.  They're not related to any 22 

of these other charges that the State is saying that they had 23 

overwhelming evidence of guilt of.   24 

  I'm not disputing that there was overwhelming evidence 25 
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of guilt of those other charges.  Okay?  I don't think we’re 1 

here -- here to say that she wasn't -- you know, he 2 

misadvised her related to any of the other charges except 3 

murder and the only way that he misadvised her related -- or 4 

I think was deficient related to the other charges and the 5 

only reason I didn't amend those out of the PCR application 6 

is five and six, which relates to whether or not she had 7 

abuse.  And that's the only reason that those are still 8 

there.   9 

  So I don't think that the State's argument that there is 10 

overwhelming evidence of guilt really carries any water here 11 

because really it boils down to a question of whether or not 12 

-- you know, whether or not the advice that he gave her 13 

regarding the felony murder rule was correct or not.  Because 14 

if it wasn't, then I don't think that she can -- you can say 15 

she intelligently pled, you know, or that she was --properly 16 

had her Sixth Amendment rights to counsel.   17 

 THE COURT:  All right.  I'll take the matter under 18 

advisement.  I’ll study it, think about it, research it, and 19 

let you know something by the end of the week.   20 

 MR. SHAFFER:  Thank you, Your Honor.   21 

 MS. OLIVE:  Thank you, Your Honor.   22 

 THE COURT:  Thank you.   23 

 (WHEREUPON, the proceedings ended at 11:15 a.m.) 24 

 25 
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State of South Carolina  )   1 

      )   Certificate 2 

County of Florence   ) 3 

 4 

I, the undersigned, Krystal J. Smith, Notary Public and 5 

Official Court Reporter for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit of 6 

the State of South Carolina, do hereby certify that the 7 

foregoing pages, numbered 1 through 49, constitute a true, 8 

accurate, and complete Transcript of Record of all the 9 

proceedings had and evidence introduced in the hearing of the 10 

above captioned case, relative to appeal, in the Court of 11 

Common Pleas for Florence County, South Carolina, on the 9th 12 

day of August, 2016. 13 

 I do further certify that I am neither of kin, counsel, 14 

nor interest to any party hereto. 15 

 16 

      s/Krystal J. Smith 17 

       Court Reporter 18 

 19 

Florence, South Carolina 20 

October 16, 2017 21 
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